IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KAYLE BARRINGTON BATES,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID A. DAVIS ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN ADJUDGING BATES GUILTY OF ROBBERY, ATTEMPTED SEXUAL BATTERY, AND KIDNAPPING AS THE JURY ACQUITTED HIM OF FIRST DEGREE FELONY-MURDER IN WHICH THOSE CRIMES FORMED THE UNDERLYING FELONIES.

The indictment charging Bates with first degree murder alleged that he committed the murder with premeditation or during the course of a robbery, kidnapping or sexual battery, or an attempt to commit those crimes (R-1).

The court instructed the jury on both premeditated murder (R-174) and felony murder (R-174) as well as the underlying crimes of robbery, kidnapping, sexual battery and their attempts (R-175-177,181). The court, apparently following this Court's suggestion <u>In the Matter Of The Use By The Trial Courts Of The Standard Jury Instructions In Criminal Cases And The Standard Jury Instructions In Misdemeanor Cases, Case No. 56,734 and 56,799, Fla. opinion filed April 16, 1981, gave the jury a special verdict form in which they could indicate whether Bates was guilty of "first degree murder by premeditation" <u>and/or</u> "first degree felony murder as charged." (R-202)</u>

As to the first degree murder charge, the jury found Bates guilty of premeditated murder but not guilty of first degree felony murder (R-202). <u>See, Hawkins v. State</u>, Case No. 61,936, Fla. opinion filed July 14, 1983. The jury also found Bates guilty of kidnapping, attempted sexual battery, and robbery (R-202-203), the crimes underlying the felony-murder charge.

- 7 -

Because of these results, the jury's verdicts are inherently inconsistent, and according to this Court's holding in <u>Pitts v</u>. <u>State</u>, 425 So.2d 542 (Fla. 1983), this Court must reverse Bates' convictions for kidnapping, attempted sexual battery, and robbery.

As a rule, courts have permitted inconsistent verdicts rendered against a single defendant in the same trial, <u>Dunn v</u>. <u>United States</u>, 284 U.S. 390, 76 L.Ed. 356, 52 S.Ct. 189 (1932); <u>McCloud v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1976), under the reasoning that each count of an indictment or information is considered as if it were a single indictment or information. Consequently, one count is not flawed by any inconsistency with another count. <u>Streeter v. State</u>, 416 So.2d 1203 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982). The only exception to this rule occurs when the jury acquits in one count and that acquittal vitiates a guilty verdict on another count. <u>Id</u>. f.n.3. <u>Pitts</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Mahaun v. State</u>, 377 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 1979); <u>Redondo v. State</u>, 403 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1981). In order for that situation to arise, however, the crime the defendant was acquitted of must be an essential element of the crime for which the jury found the defendant guilty.

The most recent case from this Court in this area is <u>Pitts</u>, <u>supra</u>. In that case, Pitts was charged with aggravated battery and possession of a firearm during the commission of the aggravated battery. The jury found Pitts not guilty of the aggravated battery charge but guilty of the possession charge. This Court, distinguishing <u>Mahaun</u> and <u>Redondo</u>, <u>supra</u>, said that no inconsistency existed because the jury <u>could</u> have found Pitts

- 8 -

not guilty of aggravated battery but guilty of possession of the firearm during the commission of an <u>attempted</u> battery. Accord <u>McCray v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1983). Finding Pitts committed an aggravated battery, in short, was not an essential element of the possession charge because the jury could have found he committed only an attempted battery.

In reaching this decision, this Court distinguished <u>Mahaun</u> and <u>Redondo</u> because in each of those cases, the jury acquitted the defendants of crimes which were essential elements of the convicted crimes. In <u>Mahaun</u>, Mahaun was charged with third degree felony murder and aggravated child abuse, the underlying felony of the felony-murder charge. While she was convicted of the murder, the jury found her guilty of a lesser misdemeanor offense of the culpable negligence charge. Because, the misdemeanor conviction effectively acquitted Mahaun of aggravated child abuse, and because aggravated child abuse was an <u>essential</u> element of the third degree felony, the verdicts were inconsistent and this Court reversed her third degree felony-murder conviction.

In <u>Redondo</u>, the jury found Redondo not guilty of aggravated battery and attempted aggravated battery. Because at least one of those crimes was an essential element of possession of a firearm during an aggravated battery (of which the jury found Redondo guilty) the verdicts were inconsistent and this Court reversed Redondo's conviction for possession of a firearm.

- 9 -

Underlying the <u>Pitts</u> decision rests the basic problem of how much speculation into the jury's deliberations will an appellate court do. According to the majority in <u>Pitts</u>, virtually none. In order to uphold jury verdicts if at all possible, courts must presume that the jury acted in accordance with the jury instructions and could make reasonable inferences from them. <u>Silvestri v. State</u>, 332 So.2d 351, 354 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976), affirmed, 340 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1976). Consequently, in <u>Pitts</u>, because the jury instruction on the possession charge mentioned an attempted aggravated battery, the jury could have legitimately acquitted Pitts of aggravated battery while at the same time finding him guilty of possession of a firearm during the commission of an <u>attempted</u> aggravated battery.

<u>Pitts</u> is important to this case because in instructing the jury, the court said:

[&]quot;While we suspect that what "really" happened is that...the jury simply pardoned McCray for the aggravated assault, which carried the three-year mandatory sentence required by § 775.087(2), we cannot act upon such an assumption. If Mahaun means what it says, it strongly suggests that a jury is not permitted to employ its inherent pardoning power as to less than all of multiple counts in a single case, if, by doing so, it reaches "legally inconsistent" verdicts. Courts, however, must presume that the jury acted in accordance with the law, so as, if at all possible, to uphold its conclusions... In this case, that may be done only by conclusively positing that the jury engaged in the highly unlikely-but consistent and permissibleratiocinative process which is described in the text and which forms the basis of our decision. However artificial, perhaps fictional, this approach may seem, any other would result in wholesale judicial interference with jury verdicts on the grounds of subjectively perceived improprieties." McCray v. State, 397 So.2d 1229 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981).

Only one verdict may be returned as to each crime charged.

(R-197)

Consequently, while the jury found Bates guilty of "first degree murder by premeditation as charged" could the jury have legitimately believed that it could have also found him guilty of "first degree felony-murder, as charged?" Bates argued that they could have done so.

Although the judge told the jury they could return one finding for each count (T-927), they knew that Bates was charged with committing first degree murder by two different theories. That is, from the indictment and the jury instructions, they knew that premeditated murder and felony-murder were only different theories of how Bates could have committed the murder (R-1,173). Consequently, they knew felony-murder and premeditation were not different crimes and the jury could have found that the state proved both premeditated murder and felony-murder, and they knew they could have indicated on the jury form that it had done so. Moreover, from the jury instructions (R-173) and the verdict form (R-202), the jury clearly could have realized that felony-murder was not a lesser included offense of premeditated murder. Nowhere did the court tell the jury that felony-murder was a lesser degree offense of murder. Also, the jury was told that they could convict Bates of felony-murder even if no premeditation was shown (R-175). From this and also from the fact that they convicted him of premeditated murder, the jury could have reasonably believed that they could have also convicted Bates

- 11 -

of felony-murder. Finally, the court repeatedly told the jury that they must obey the law and could not exercise its jury pardoning power.

1. You must follow the law as it is set out in these instructions. If you fail to follow the law, your verdict will be a miscarriage of justice. There is no reason for failing to follow the law in this case. All of us are depending upon you to make a wise and legal decision in this matter.

(R-196)

In closing, let me remind you that it is important that you follow the law spelled out in these instructions in deciding your verdict. There are no other laws that apply to this case. Even if you do not like the laws that must be applied, you must use them. For two centuries we have agreed to a constitution and to live by the law. No one of us has the right to violate rules we all share.

(R-199)

Because of this repeated admonition to obey the law, and the presumption that the jury will follow the law, we must assume that they were doing so when they acquitted Bates of first degree felony-murder. Consequently, sufficient reasons exist to believe that the jury knew they could convict Bates of premeditated murder and felony-murder. Without that dual finding, however, their guilty verdicts on the robbery, kidnapping, and attempted sexual battery convictions create an impermissible inconsistency, forcing this Court to apply the test created in Pitts, supra.

Specifically, applying this test we know that some essential element is missing from the kidnapping, robbery, and attempted

- 12 -

sexual battery convictions by virtue of the jury's acquittal of Bates for felony-murder. That is, the only distinction between premeditated murder and felony-murder is that premeditation requires premeditation whereas felony-murder replaces the premeditation element with the requirement that during the commission of certain felonies a murder occurred. <u>See § 782.04</u>, Fla.Stat. (1982) (R-174). Consequently, by virtue of its not guilty verdict for felony-murder, the jury found some essential element missing from the kidnapping, robbery, and sexual battery charges which the state claimed were the basis for the felony-murder charge. The <u>Pitts</u> test, therefore, is met and this Court should reverse the trial court's judgment and sentence for robbery, kidnapping, and attempted sexual battery.

²Because Bates is relying upon the special verdict form, he is not arguing that he could not be sentenced for the underlying felonies. <u>State v. Hegstrom</u>, 401 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1981). If this Court rejects the argument presented by this issue Bates argues that the trial court could not sentence him for felonies underlying this murder.

ISSUE II

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT BATES COMMITTED THE MURDER DURING THE COURSE OF A ROBBERY, KIDNAPPING, AND ATTEMPTED SEXUAL BATTERY.

This issue directly depends upon how this Court rules upon the previous issue. As part of its finding of facts, the trial court said:

> 1. The murder was committed while the Defendant was engaged in the commission of a kidnapping and an attempted sexual battery. [(F.S. 921.145(5)(d)]. The murder was also committed while the Defendant was engaged in the commission of a robbery. The Defendant went to the State Farm Insurance Office on June 14, 1982 and kidnapped the victim, Janet Renee White. The crime of kidnapping was accomplished when the victim was forcibly removed from the office. The victim was then sexually assaulted and robbed of a ring worn on her left ring finger.

(R-222).

By virtue of its not guilty verdict for felony-murder (R-202), the jury has acquitted Bates of robbery, attempted sexual battery, and a kidnapping. (See Issue I). Consequently, the state has not proven this aggravating factor beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>State v. Dixon</u>, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973). This Court therefore, should reverse for a new sentencing hearing.

ISSUE III

THE COURT ERRED IN ADJUDGING BATES GUILTY OF ATTEMPTED SEXUAL BATTERY WHEN THE EVIDENCE SHOWS HE ABANDONED HIS ATTEMPT, IN VIOLATION OF SECTION 777.04, FLORIDA STATUTES (1982).

The jury in this case found Bates guilty of attempted sexual battery, a lesser included offense of sexual battery. Accordingly, the court adjudged him guilty of that offense. Nevertheless, the evidence at trial, while conceedingly supporting the court's judgment also shows that Bates abandoned his attempt. Consequently, because that is a defense to attempt he is not guilty of attempted sexual battery. §777.04, Fla.Stat. (1982).

As a general rule, once a person has committed a crime, he cannot thereafter "undo" the crime by some belated repentance. <u>See Wheelis v. State</u>, 340 So.2d 950 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). With the inchoate crime of attempt, however, a person can undo the legal consequences of his attempt if he subsequently abandons his attempt to commit a crime:

> (5) It is a defense under this section that, under circumstances manifesting a complete and voluntary renunciation of his criminal purpose, the defendant:

(a) Abandoned his attempt to commit the offense or otherwise prevented its commission;... §777.04(5), Fla.Stat. (1982).

Thus, even though a person such as Bates may have committed an attempt, he may nevertheless be held blameless if he has voluntarily renunciated or abandoned his attempt to commit a crime. Of course, once the crime is completed, abandonment is not a

- 15 -

3 defense.

The policy behind this statute and Section 5.01 of 4 the Model Penal Code upon which the Florida Statute is based is easy to find. It is simply to serve as an inducement to the potential criminal to abandon his criminal design before it ends in a completed crime.

Only one Florida case explicitly discusses the defense of abandonment of an attempt. In <u>Wheelis</u>, <u>supra</u>, the court reversed the trial court's judgment and sentence for attempted breaking and entering because the lower court had excluded, as irrelevant, evidence that Wheelis had abandoned his attempt to break into a Gainesville grocery store. Abandonment, the court said, is a defense to an attempt.

³Accordingly, Bates is not arguing that because he abandoned his attempted sexual battery, he is somehow not accountable for a kidnapping or battery which may have been part of this episode.

Within the meaning of this Article, renunciation of criminal purpose is not voluntary if it is motivated, in whole or in part, by circumstances, not present or apparent at the inception of the actor's course of conduct, which increase the probability of detection or apprehension or which make more difficult the accomplishment of the criminal purpose. Renunciation is not complete if it is motivated by a decision to postpone the criminal conduct until a more advantageous time or to transfer the criminal effort to another but similar objective or victim.

^{(4) &}lt;u>Renunciation of Criminal Purpose</u>. When the actor's conduct would otherwise constitute an attempt under Subsection (1) (b) or (1) (c) of this Section, it is an affirmative defense that he abandoned his effort to commit the crime or otherwise prevented its commission, under circumstances manifesting a complete and voluntary renunciation of his criminal purpose. The establishment of such defense does not, however, affect the liability of an accomplice who did not join in such abandonment or prevention.

Judge Boyer, dissenting, said, "A crime, once committed, cannot be uncommitted." <u>Id</u>. at 952. With completed crimes, that is the case, but because attempt is an inchoate crime, the legislature decided that those who abandon the attempt should not be punished. Section 777.04, Florida Statutes (1982), moreover, clearly indicates that abandonment is a defense to an attempt. That is, it cannot be argued that the offense of abandonment somehow applies only to the preparation stages of an attempt and not to those further acts which convert this preparation into an attempt.

An attempt can be "uncommitted," however, only if the abandonment is voluntary. If some external force interferes with the completion of the crime then the person has not voluntarily abandoned his attempt. Several cases outside of Florida illustrate this point. In People v. Stuples, 85 Cal. Rptr. 589 (Cal. 2d DCA 1970) a landlord thwarted an attempted burglary when he saw holes drilled in the floor above a bank vault and repossessed the office he had let to Stuples. There, Stuples had not abandoned his attempt. In People v. Davis, 388 N.E.2d 887 (Ill. 5th DCA 1979) Davis pushed the keys on a cash register but did not take any money because she fled when she saw a guard watching her. Similarly, in Stewart v. State, 455 P.2d 914 (Nev. 1969) Stewart was attempting to rob a gas station when the police drove up. Finally, in People v. White, 285 NYS 2d 633 (Crim.Ct.N.Y. City 1967) White was guilty of attempting to pass a worthless check when he gave the check and his identification to a teller. The fact that he left the bank when an officer sought to check

- 17 -

the ID did not undo his attempt. In these cases, circumstances beyond the control of these defendants prevented the completion of their crimes.

In this case, no similar external force intervened to prevent Bates from committing the sexual battery. From the evidence presented at trial, Bates ejaculated before penetration (T-639). Further, from his confession, Bates did not intend to sexually batter White and did not "really" try to commit the crime (T-639). Also, the state presented no evidence that Bates did not complete the sexual battery because the police arrived or someone else came onto the scene. To the contrary, for all we know, Bates could have committed the crime but for the abandonment of his attempt.

Consequently, he is not guilty of attempted sexual battery and this Court should reverse the judgment and sentence for that crime.

- 18 -

ISSUE IV

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING BATES' MOTION FOR A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS THE STATE PRESENTED NO EVIDENCE THAT WHITE WAS PLACED IN FEAR WHEN THE RING WAS TAKEN FROM HER.

The basic argument presented by this issue is that Bates did not rob White because the evidence is susceptible to the reasonable conclusion that she was dead when Bates took the ring from her. Consequently, the ring was not taken from White "by force, violence, or assault, or by putting Janet White in fear" (R-176).

The only evidence the state presented to support its robbery charge was that (1) White was dead, (2) Bates was found with the ring (T-573), and (3) Some force had been used to remove the ring from White's finger (T-445). Bates, on the other hand, denied taking the ring, claiming he found it outside of the store (T-576).

Robbery is a larceny by violence or putting in fear. <u>Green v. State</u>, 414 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). But the force necessary to complete the taking in such crimes as picking a pocket does not necessarily convert this simple act into a robbery. To be a robbery, the victim must have resisted in some degree or would have likely done so if the defendant had not used or threatened the victim with some force designed to overcome the resistence of the victim. <u>Mims v. State</u>, 342 So.2d 116 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977). Consequently, in this case the circumstantial evidence pointing to Bates committing the robbery also points to the equally likely possibility that

- 19 -

Bates took the ring from White after she was dead. Specifically, the ring was not taken by force or putting in fear because White was dead.

Moreover, because the evidence was circumstantial, this Court must believe Bates' hypothesis as the facts do not show this to be an impossible reconstruction of the events. <u>Peek v</u>. State, 395 So.2d 492 (Fla. 1981).

Bates is not arguing that by taking the ring he is innocent of any crime. He could, for example, be guilty of theft. <u>See McCloud v. State</u>, 335 So.2d 257 (Fla. 1976). Nevertheless, because the evidence points to the equally possible likelihood that White was dead when Bates took the ring, he argues that he is not guilty of robbery. This Court should reverse the trial court's judgment and sentence for the robbery and remand for a new sentencing hearing on the murder conviction.

ISSUE V

THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT BATES COMMITTED THE MURDER FOR THE PURPOSE OF PREVENTING OR AVOIDING LAWFUL ARREST.

The court, in sentencing Bates to death, said that he committed the murder for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest:

> 2. The murder was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest. [F.S. 921.145(5)(e)]. The dominate motive for the murder of Janet Renee White was the elimination of the only witness to the defendant's crimes. To avoid being identified by the victim of his criminal acts the defendant felt it necessary to eliminate the only witness. His plan might have been successful had not law enforcement personnel responded so quickly.

(R-222)

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