#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KAYLE BARRINGTON BATES,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant,

Appellee.

vs.

CASE NO. 63,594

FILED

OCT 14 1983

SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPRIME COURT

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREW THOMAS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

THE CAPTIOL, 1502
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

# TOPICAL

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

employee, that it was normal for his office to be closed from twelve noon until 1:00 p.m. for lunch, and that the office hours were posted on the front door. (TR 310, 311). When he arrived at his office on June 14, 1982, at approximately 1:07 p.m., the office was in disarray. The telephone was out of position, the victim's shoes and purse were lying on the floor, two cannisters of mace were lying about, a microfische cover was on the floor, the drapes to Dickerson's sliding glass doors were open, and his calculator was unplugged. (TR 312-315). The sliding glass door was ultimately found to be ajar. (R 316). The victim's car was in the lot, but no other

vehicles were there. (R 314). The office scissors were still in the office upon Dickerson's arrival, in the victim's top desk drawer. (TR 329, 330). No sharp objects were missing from the office. (TR 330). Dickerson further testified that the victim was slow to anger. (TR 335). Upon inspection, the sliding glass door showed signs of forced entry. (TR 337, 338).

Don Ciota, Lynn Haven police officer, responded to the State Farm office and saw Appellant. Appellant's clothing was wet and muddy; there appeared to be blood on his shirt. (TR 363-365). Appellant stated he lost his company baseball cap in the woods while gathering cattails. (TR 366). Appellant had abrasions on his arms. (TR 368).

Investigator Guy Tunnell testified that Appellant's delivery truck was not visible from the highway or State Farm office parked, as it was, at the dead-end of Peachtree. (TR 980). He also saw the blood on Appellant's clothing and the scratches on his arms. (TR 982, 983). Tunnell was present when a knife scabbard, blue nylon cord, and Knight Paper baseball cap were found in the woods. (TR 985-987). He noticed one set of tennis shoe prints in the area where the items were found. (TR 992).

Frank McKeighen, also an investigator, took a watch and ladies diamond ring from Appellant during questioning.

(TR 1000-1002).

Investigator Paul Vecker overheard Appellant tell his wife on the phone that he had "killed a woman." Appellant's

wife hung up on him. (TR 1029, 1030).

Sgt. Bobby Nowell, a lab technician verified that the sliding glass door at the State Farm office had been pried open. He identified a garbage can holder found at the scene and said it showed signs of being freshly handled. He "felt certain" the holder was used to pry the door open. (TR 1047-1049). Nowell took foot print casts at the scene. (TR 1058-1060). He also tested the scissors from the State Farm office and found no blood nor evidence that they had been wiped off recently. (TR 1067, 1068).

Raymond O'Brien testified that Appellant's delivery route was unsupervised. (TR 383). Roger Wingate had seen Appellant with a Buck knife and case at work. (TR 386, 387). Elbert Allen had as well, and he remembered the case had a blue nylon cord on it. (TR 389-394). Sgt. Henry Cannon saw Appellant with a knife and case two days prior to the murder. He identified the case because of the army-issue cord and alligator clip. Cannon was Appellant's superior in the National Guard. (TR 389-412).

Sheriff Lavelle Pitts found the victim in the woods behind the State Farm office. Her clothing was ripped and torn, blood covered her face. (TR 417, 418). The victim was on her back and her body was covered with bruises and abrasions. Part of her pantyhose was stretched into a briar bush. (TR 419, 420).

Dr. Joseph Sapala, medical examiner, testified the victim was dead at the scene of the crime. (TR 435). His

autopsy revealed some fifteen contusions, seven abrasions, twenty incisions, and two deep stab wounds to the chest of the victim. (TR 444, 445). The stab wounds were 4" deep, approximately 3/4" by 1/4" in dimension. (TR 440). There were contusions on the victim's neck consistent with strangulation and rope burns. (TR 450). Indications of lack of oxygen existed as well. (TR 449). The two stab wounds would take five to ten minutes to cause death. (TR 453, 454). Either a blow to the head or strangulation could have caused death. (TR 453). The official cause of death was hemorrhagic shock secondary to stab wounds, i.e., a massive amount of blood filled the chest cavity. (TR 452).

Dr. Sapala found a 1/4" incision to the victim's left ring finger. (TR 443). There were also bruises on the same finger. (TR 445, 446).

Semen was found to be present on the vaginal smears of the victim. (TR 437, 462, 463).

The doctor stated that the stab wounds were inconsistent with scissors being used as the weapon, but consistent with a Buck knife. (R 464, 465). The blue nylon cord could have caused the neck contusions. (TR 465).

Investigator Charles Robinson testified that no blood was found inside the State Farm office or in the area between the office and where the victim was found. (TR 473-476).

Mary Lynn Hinson, a microanalysist in the field of shoe tracks, testified that Appellant's right tennis shoe

could have made the print found at the scene. (TR 482-490).

James Luten, a specialist in microanalysis as well, testified that the watch pin found inside the State Farm office could have come from Appellant's watch. The pins were the same in color, diameter, size, and length. They exhibited similar construction charactersitics. (TR 498-503). Luten also found olive green polyester fibers on the victim's skirt and blouse. The fibers could have come from Appellant's trousers, i.e., army fatigues. (TR 505-509).

Suzanne Harang, a forensic serologist, testified the victim had type A blood and Appellant had type O blood. (TR 536). She found semen on a vaginal swab of the victim and on the victim's panties and Appellant's briefs. (TR 540, 542-544). Harang found type A blood on both the victim's clothing and on Appellant's shirt and pants. (TR 541-545). Type A blood, the victim's type, was also found on the blue nylon cord. (TR 548). Harang's conclusion: all blood found, either on the victim or Appellant, was type A, the victim's type.

No type O blood was detected. (TR 551).

Investigator McKeithen testified once more. Appellant had a watch with a pin missing and a ladies diamond ring on his person when arrested. Appellant first said the ring was his wife's, but the victim's husband identified it contrarily. (TR 572-574). Appellant then said he found the ring. (TR 575, 576).

Appellant's two recorded statements were played for the jury. (TR 589-650). In the latter statement Appellant

claimed the victim was killed accidentally during a struggle over the scissors. While not "really" trying to have sex with the victim, Appellant did remove his penis from his pants and experienced a premature ejaculation, according to the latter statement. (TR 633-650). The scissors Appellant said killed the victim were never located. (TR 654, 655).

Appellant testified at trial as stated in his initial brief. The trial testimony conflicted with Appellant's last statement to police in material respects.

#### ISSUE I

THE JURY VERDICTS WERE CONSISTENT AND APPELLANT PROPERLY ADJUDGED GUILTY OF PREMEDITATED FIRST DEGREE MURDER, KIDNAPPING, ARMED ROBBERY, AND ATTEMPTED SEXUAL BATTERY.

(Appellant's Issue I as restated by Appellee).

Appellant contends that the jury's verdict finding him guilty of premeditated first degree murder operated so as to acquit him of felony murder and, therefore, of the underlying felonies. Such a contention has no basis in either logic or law.

Appellant relies on this Court's opinion in <a href="Hawkins">Hawkins</a>
<a href="Windlergoon">w. State</a>, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Fla. 1983) [8 F.L.W. 245], to support his theory that the jury found him "not guilty" of felony murder. (AB 7). <a href="Hawkins">Hawkins</a> involved a jury verdict of guilty for felony murder and this Court held that the defendant could not be sentenced for both the underlying robbery and first-degree felony murder, citing to <a href="State v. Hegstrom">State v. Hegstrom</a>, 401 So.2d 1343 (Fla. 1981). <a href="Hawkins">Hawkins</a> has no applicability to the instant case.

Under section 782.04, Florida Statutes (1981), the offense of first-degree murder may be committed in several ways, including murder by premeditated design or a felony murder supported by various felonies. <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>,

\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_ (Fla. 1983) [8 F.L.W. 375]. Felony murder situations do not require proof of a premeditated intent to kill, since premeditation is presumed as a matter of law. Larry v.

State, 104 So.2d 352 (Fla. 1958). It has long been settled that the State may proceed on alternative theories under an indictment charging first-degree murder. Knight v. State, 338 So.2d 201 (Fla. 1976). It is the jury's duty to evaluate the evidence and decide what crime, if any, has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. Tibbs v. State, 397 So.2d 1120 (Fla. 1981).

From the outset Appellee submits the specific contention made herein was never asserted at the trial level and therefore is not cognizable on appeal. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

Further, Appellant's reasoning necessarily involves a conclusion that first-degree murder proved by premeditated design and first-degree murder proved by felony murder are mutually exclusive. Appellee disagrees. The proof adduced at Appellant's trial supports a verdict of first-degree murder under either evidentiary theory. See: Campbell v. State, 227 So.2d 873, 879 (Fla. 1969) (wherein this Court found proof of first-degree murder by means of premeditation and felony murder existed at trial). Where there is clear evidence of premeditation, it is not necessary to prove an underlying felony, however nothing precludes it. Tafero v. State, 403 So.2d 355, 361 (Fla. 1981).

The trial court herein did not afford the jury an opportunity to explain the evidentiary basis of its verdict by means of a mutual or "and/or" verdict. Rather, the jury

was told to render one verdict - and one verdict only - as to each count. (TR 922-924). The jury followed those instructions and found Appellant guilty of first-degree murder proved by premeditated design, kidnapping, armed robbery, and attempted sexual battery. (R 202, 203). Appellant did not object to the instructions as given. How can he now say that the jury really meant to acquit him of the underlying felonies when their verdict forms reveal the exact opposite? Such a contention is patently illogical.

Appellant relies on cases where inconsistent verdicts existed due to the jury acquitting on one charge which formed an essential element of a higher crime charged. Redondo v. State, 403 So.2d 954 (Fla. 1981); Mahaun v. State, 377 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 1979). Those cases are inapplicable.

Herein Appellant was acquitted of nothing more than sexual battery, the jury returning a quilty verdict as to attempted sexual battery. (R 202). If anything, since the evidence revealed all the crimes occurred during an ongoing criminal episode, the jury implied by its verdicts that Appellant was guilty of first-degree murder both because of his premeditated intent to kill the victim and because the homicide occurred during the commission of three other felonies. The jury's court-imposed silence regarding blank "b" of Count I should not be twisted to suggest what Appellant urges this Court to believe.

Appellant does not contend that proof was lacking as to the verdict rendered. Appellee submits that the manner in

which the homicide was committed and the nature and manner of the wounds inflicted supplied ample evidence of premeditation.

Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); Mines v. State,

390 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1980).

Appellee submits the jury verdicts were consistent and Appellant was properly adjudged guilty of the crimes the jury found to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt.

#### ISSUE II

THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE JURY'S VERDICT AND THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADJUDGED APPELLANT GUILTY OF ATTEMPTED SEXUAL BATTERY.

(Appellant's Issue III as restated by Appellee).

Appellant asserts a "defense" of abandonment for the first time on appeal. This theory was never asserted at trial, nor was it ever argued as a ground for acquittal. (TR 709, 710, 845, 846). In fact, Appellant's trial testimony is entirely inconsistent with any abandonment theory of defense. Appellant denied making any statements to police, testified that he fell asleep, and eventually found the victim's body. (TR 776-814). Specifically, he denied committing any offenses against the victim or her property. (TR 802, 813-814). Appellee submits that since the present argument was never presented to the trial court below, Appellant is precluded from raising it for the first time on appeal. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978); G.W.B. v. State, 340 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977).

Intent is almost always inferred from circumstantial evidence and the jury has the duty of weighing the evidence, judging the credibility of witnesses, and ultimately determining a defendant's state of mind. State v. Alexander, 406 So. 2d 1192, 1194 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981); State v. Rogers, 386 So.2d 278, 280 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980); Cummings v. State, 378 So.2d 879 (Fla 1st DCA 1979). Whether the evidence presented at trial

excluded all reasonable hypotheses of innocence was for the jury to decide and this Court will not reverse a judgment based upon a verdict returned by a jury where there is substantial, competent evidence to support the jury verdict. Rose v. State, 425 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1983); Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); Clark v. State, 379 So.2d 97 (Fla. 1979), cert. denied, 450 U.S. 936 (1981). Appellee submits that the evidence at trial would have supported a verdict of guilty as charged, i.e., sexual battery, and that it certainly supported the jury's verdict of attempted sexual battery.

The victim was found in the woods, her clothing ripped and torn. (TR 417, 418). Her body was battered and bruised, blood covered her face. Pantyhose were found in a briar bush. (TR 419, 420). Semen was found on a vaginal swab from the victim, on the victim's panties, and on Appellant's briefs. (TR 540, 542-544). These circumstances would have supported a verdict of guilty as charged.

However, the jury may have been concerned that the victim's husband had engaged in sexual relations with his wife two days prior to the homicide and medical testimony that semen could theoretically remain inside a woman's vagina up to three days. (TR 296, 470). The jury also heard a statement of Appellant's wherein he admitted removing his penis from his pants while he abducted the victim. Appellant therein denied battering the victim because he experienced a premature ejaculation. (TR 638, 639). The premature ejaculation was why he didn't

"finish" what he intended. Therefore, it appears that the jury rationally concluded, based upon substantial, competent evidence, that Appellant failed to complete the crime of sexual battery due to a physiological dysfunction on his part, not due to any voluntary abandonment of his criminal purpose.

Finally, it should be noted that the jury was instructed on the defense of abandonment. (TR 908, 909). Since no evidence was presented which supported that defense, the jury rationally rejected it. A jury may reject any hypothesis of innocence if it is unreasonable in light of the evidence supporting guilt. Floyd v. State, 361 So.2d 802 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); McBride v. State, 191 So.2d 70 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966). Appellee submits that the instant contention, even had it been argued to the jury, would have been rejected as being unreasonable in light of the evidence presented at trial. What intervened to prevent a completed crime, if anything, was Appellant's own dysfunction. Such cannot be twisted to mean a "complete and voluntary renunciation of his criminal purpose." § 777.04(5), Florida Statutes (1982).

#### ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL REGARDING THE ARMED ROBBERY COUNT.

(Appellant's Issue IV as restated by Appellee).

Appellant's theory that no robbery occurred because the victim was dead at the time of the taking was never presented to the trial court during motions for judgment of acquittal. Appellant's counsel presented no more than a general argument that the State had failed to prove a prima facie case of guilt as to all counts. (TR 709, 710, 845, 846). Therefore, the motions were insufficient to preserve this issue for appellate review. Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.380(b); G.W.B. v. State, 340 So.2d 969 (Fla. 1st DCA 1977). See also: Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982), and Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). This Court should not consider the present argument.

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